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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

 Plaintiff Subah Packer, Ph.D., brought claims against Defendants 

Trustees of the Indiana University School of Medicine (“IUSM”) and Dr. 

Michael Sturek under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964,    

42 U.S.C. § 2000e, for gender discrimination, hostile work environment, and 

retaliation; violation of the Equal Pay Act, 29 U.S.C. § 206(d); breach of 

contract; and unpaid wages.  

 The district court had federal question jurisdiction under    

28 U.S.C. § 1331 and 28 U.S.C. § 1343(a), and exercised jurisdiction over the 

supplemental state law claims via 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a). On December 18, 2012, 

Dr. Sturek was dismissed from the suit. Doc. 47. On December 22, 2014, the 

district court entered its opinion granting summary judgment in IUSM’s favor 

on all claims. Doc. 135. No motion for reconsideration or alteration of the 

judgment was filed. 

On January 16, 2015, Dr. Packer filed a timely notice of appeal. Doc. 

139. The Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals has jurisdiction of this appeal 

under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1291 and 1294, which bestow jurisdiction on courts of 

appeals from all final decisions of the district courts. 
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STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

I. Dr. Packer was paid much less than her male colleagues,   

  given a closet in lieu of a lab, and saddled with one of the heaviest 

  course loads at IUSM. Amidst multiple equal pay grievances,  

  dismissive remarks about her gender-based research, and   

  attempts to undermine her advancement, the IUSM Dean and  

  Department Chair expressed their desire to get rid of Dr. Packer,  

  with the Dean claiming “validation” when she was finally fired.  

  Reviewed de novo, is there a question of fact as to gender  

   discrimination? 

II. Dr. Packer’s salary was 66% of the mean of male Associate 

Professors in her Department. And while male faculty members’ 

salaries continuously increased, Dr. Packer’s salary was stagnant, 

and eventually cut 10% by the time she was terminated.   

 Reviewed de novo, is there a question of fact whether the  

 Equal Pay Act was violated? 

III.  Over the course of her employment, Dr. Packer filed multiple 

equal pay grievances, peppered the University Equal Opportunity 

Office with concerns about discrimination and retaliation, and 

eventually sued. Four days after being served with this lawsuit, 
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Dr. Sturek pulled Dr. Packer from a course and cited the incident 

as a basis for her dismissal.   

Reviewed de novo, is there a question of fact whether Dr. 

Packer experienced retaliation? 

IV.  The purpose of tenure at IUSM is to safeguard “academic freedom 

and economic security.” Dr. Packer asserted a contractual right to 

continuous employment based on her tenure.  

Reviewed de novo, is there a question of fact whether IUSM 

 breached its contract with Dr. Packer? 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The Background 

Dr. Subah Packer taught in the Physiology and Biophysics Department 

at the Indiana University School of Medicine (“IUSM”). Doc. 113-1 at 16. She 

began in 1986 as a Postdoctoral Fellow, was retained on the faculty in 1988 as 

an Assistant Scientist/Assistant Professor, and was promoted to the tenure-

track in 1994. Doc. 113-1 at 24. Dr. Packer sought tenure in 1999. Id. at 41.  

The First Unequal Pay Grievance  

 In 2000, Dr. Packer received a positive recommendation by the 

University’s Promotion and Tenure Committee but was denied tenure. Doc. 

113-4 at 5. She filed a grievance regarding unequal pay and her tenure denial. 

Id. at 4-5. The grievance was resolved in her favor by the Faculties Dean and 

Vice Chancellor William Plater. Doc. 125-2 at 5-6. To remedy the grievance, 

Plater initiated a de novo tenure review. Doc. 135 at 2. However, IUSM Dean 

Craig Brater opposed her tenure and promotion to Associate Professor. Doc. 

113-1 at 73, 76. Dr. Packer was awarded tenure, with the Tenure Committee 

and Faculties Dean overriding Dean Brater’s opposition. Doc. 125-2 at 5-6; 

Doc. 125-7 at 2.  

The Second Unequal Pay Grievance 

 Dr. Packer won two consecutive Ferrer Awards for Original Research in 

Gender-Specific Medicine in 2001 and 2002. Doc. 125-7 at ¶¶ 5, 8; Doc. 113-4 
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at 6. The 2001 award was for her work in “Estrogen Protection in Genetic 

Hypertension” and her 2002 award was for “Gender Dichotomy in Vascular 

Reactivity in Hypertension.” Doc. 125-50 at 1-2. Per University compensation 

guidelines, a pay raise was due for Dr. Packer’s tenure and awards. Doc. 113-4 

at 4, 6; Doc. 125-43.  

 After failing to receive a raise in 2001, Dr. Packer filed another unequal 

pay grievance. Doc. 125-42; Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 10; Doc. 113-4 at 4. During the 

grievance hearing, Department Chair Dr. Rodney Rhoades and his Associate 

Chair Dr. Montrose testified that the Ferrer Awards did not merit a salary 

increase because Dr. Packer’s research was “not mainstream” as it “had 

something to do with women’s health.” Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 9. The University’s 

Faculty Grievance Committee found in Dr. Packer’s favor. Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 10. 

However, she would not receive a raise until 2003, after Dr. Rhoades (who had 

also opposed Dr. Packer’s tenure) was out of the compensation process and 

over Dean Brater’s continued opposition. Id.; Doc. 125-2 at 5; Doc. 113-4 at 4.   

Dr. Packer Loses Her Lab 

During the 2002-2003 academic year, Dean Brater met Drs. Packer, 

Tanner, Kempson, and Hui. Doc. 125-24 at 1-2; Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 12. He 

threatened to remove their labs because they had no National Institutes of 

Health (“NIH”) grants. Doc. 125-24 at 2; Doc. 125-7 at ¶¶ 11-12. The Dean 

also labeled Dr. Packer in front of her colleagues as a “big complainer.” Doc. 
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125-7 at ¶ 12. Only Dr. Packer was stripped of her lab. Id. Drs. Tanner, 

Kempson, and Hui (all males) received promotions and raises despite their 

lack of grant funding. Id.; Doc. 125-6; Doc. 125-24. Further, at his deposition, 

Dr. Kempson admitted he had not obtained a single NIH grant since 1995. 

Doc. 125-23 at 2. He also said there were years when he had no research 

funding at all. Id. at 8. 

After Dr. Rhoades retired in 2004, Dr. Fredrick Pavalko became Interim 

Department Chair. Doc. 125-2 at 14. Dean Brater told Dr. Pavalko to 

“terminate Dr. Packer.” Doc. 125-2 at 9-10; Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 14. Because Dr. 

Packer was shielded by tenure, Dean Brater suggested she be shipped to a 

regional campus. Doc. 125-2 at 9-10. Dr. Pavalko deferred because the idea 

was “a non-starter.” Id.; Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 14.   

Dr. Sturek Becomes Department Chair 

 The new Department Chair, Dr. Michael Sturek, was also told to remove 

Dr. Packer. Doc. 125-2 at 8-10; Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 16. From his inception, Dr. 

Sturek began fulfilling Dean Brater’s aim to get rid of her. Doc. 125-2 at 8-10; 

Doc. 125-9; Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 16. During the 2003-2004 school year, Dr. Sturek, 

Dean Brater, and Dr. Pavalko met multiple times to discuss removing Dr. 

Packer. Doc. 125-2 at 3; 14-16.       

 Grant funding was a priority for Dr. Sturek. Doc. 113-13 at ¶ 5. Faculty 

members were expected to be involved in an extramurally funded research 
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project, or to receive at least 15% salary support on a research project funded 

by a national research organization. Doc. 113-13 at ¶¶ 8, 12. Failing this, the 

faculty member must attempt to secure extramural funding. Doc. 113-13 at ¶¶ 

8, 13. Dr. Packer lacked grant funding during some years, but as IUSM 

Physiology Professor Dr. Susan Gunst explained, “you can’t get a grant if you 

don’t have the (lab) space.” Doc. 125-8 at 4. Further, Dr. David Suzuki, IUSM 

Professor Emeritus and Director of the University Equity Institute on Race, 

observed efforts “to intentionally hinder Dr. Packer’s ability to conduct 

research.” Doc. 125-48 at ¶¶ 1, 2. Still, Dr. Packer made 40 grant submissions 

from 2000 to 2013. Doc. 125-50 (also attached hereto at A19). 

Dr. Packer Continues Without a Lab 

 In December of 2004, Dr. Sturek assigned Dr. Packer an old conference 

room as her “lab” and office space. Doc. 125-6; Doc. 125-24 at 2. Photos of her 

room and the labs of her colleagues captured the contrast. Doc. 125-6. David 

Lounsbery operated the University’s Physiology Machine & Instrument Shop. 

Doc. 125-44 at 1. He also did lab space modifications. Id. He observed Dr. 

Packer’s working conditions “many times” and confirmed she was provided 

with “lesser space and less institutional support of her work than were her 

male colleagues.” Id. Lounsbery further testified that Dr. Sturek provided 

recent male hires “newly renovated offices and laboratories while Dr. Packer 
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was not provided with any laboratory space, and at times . . . any private 

office space.” Id. at 2.  

Dr. Packer was the only faculty member without a lab. Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 

18; Doc. 113-4 at 8. Her lab equipment, purchased with personal start-up 

funds and independent grants, was put in storage in 2004 and never removed. 

Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 18; Doc. 125-44; Doc. 125-24; Doc. 125-46 at 3; Doc. 125-49 at 

5. Dr. Ami Rice said that while conducting research with Dr. Packer, “we had 

insufficient infrastructure support to do much of the work.” Doc. 125-32 at ¶ 8. 

While Dr. Sturek did not give Dr. Packer a lab, he affirmed his ongoing 

interest in “getting her out of the department.” Doc. 125-2 at 12-13. Further, 

he disparaged Dr. Packer to Dr. Rice and advised her not to work with Dr. 

Packer. Doc. 125-32 at ¶¶ 5-6. Dr. Sturek’s research analyst, James Wenzel, 

also witnessed Dr. Sturek boast to a graduate student that he would remove 

Dr. Packer. Doc. 125-9. 

Dr. Packer’s Ratings 

 IUSM faculty members are assessed yearly for teaching, research, and 

service. Doc. 125-10 at 1-2. Dr. Sturek gave Dr. Packer a satisfactory review 

for the 2004-2005 school year. Doc. 113-8 at 10-11. But he rated her 

unsatisfactory every year thereafter (except one) for failing to publish 

research manuscripts and submit grant applications, despite IUSM declaring 
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unsatisfactory ratings to be “extremely rare.” Doc. 125-10 at 1; Doc. 113-8 at 

10-11.  

 Faculty members are expected to publish one research paper over a 

three-year period. Doc. 113-13 at ¶¶ 8, 10. From 2003 to 2013, Dr. Packer 

published 14 basic science research manuscripts and 8 science education 

papers. Doc. 113-5 at 20-24; Doc. 113-17 at 22-34. However, Dr. Sturek did not 

credit Dr. Packer for any of her invited papers or other science research 

publications unless she was listed as either the first or last author. Doc. 113-1 

at 15, 27, 35-36. Furthermore, Dr. Packer had one of the Department’s highest 

teaching loads throughout her employment. Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 17; Doc. 125-49 at 

5-6; Doc. 125-11 at 4; Doc. 125-32 at ¶ 7; Doc. 125-49 at ¶ 15. Dr. Suzuki knew 

of no other faculty member who taught as many courses as Dr. Packer. Doc. 

125-48 at ¶ 7. He suspected an effort “to unreasonably overload her with 

teaching responsibilities.” Id. at ¶ 2.  

The University (Chancellor Bantz) presented Dr. Packer with the Irwin 

Experience Excellence Award for “going above and beyond the call of duty” in 

2007. Doc. 125-45; Doc. 113-4 at 11; Doc. 125-21 at 2. Still, that year Dr. 

Sturek rated her unsatisfactory. His mindset was captured in an August 2007 

e-mail to colleagues. Doc. 125-52 (also attached hereto at A18). “A huge 

problem that we will have in reprimanding Subah for inept teaching is that 

she was nominated for an American Physiological Society teaching award in 



 10 

2007.” Id. Dr. Sturek’s reaction to the nomination: “I was absolutely 

stunned!!!” Id. (Emphasis in original.) Dr. Sturek further expressed dismay at 

the Irwin Experience Award and “was just about as stunned to learn about 

that award, also.” Id. Dr. Sturek subsequently wrote the American 

Physiological Society to subvert Dr. Packer’s nomination. Doc. 113-4 at 11. 

Simultaneously, he wrote a letter supporting a male 2007 Guyton nominee, 

Dr. George Tanner. Id. 

The Review and Enhancement Committee 

 If a tenured faculty member receives two successive unsatisfactory 

reviews, the Department Chair may request an evaluation by the Review and 

Enhancement Committee (“R&E”). Doc. 125-10. The R&E can suggest 

remedies for the faculty member, including dismissal. Id. at 4. 

 During the 2008-2009 school year, Dr. Sturek contacted the R&E, which 

then evaluated Dr. Packer’s work from 2001 through 2009. Doc. 125-11 at 2. 

The R&E found her “effort and performance in teaching to be strong. [W]e see 

sufficient evidence of effort and performance at a high level to suggest to us 

that with a greater focus on scholarship in the area of education she may be 

able to build a successful dossier for promotion on the basis of excellence in 

teaching.” Id. at 4. While Dr. Packer was not meeting research funding goals, 

the R&E found she attempted to secure extramural funding. Id. at 5-6. 

Further, she “carries a heavy teaching load. Since 2003 she has taught in 4-6 
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courses per year.” Id. at 4. The R&E concluded Dr. Packer “makes valued 

contributions to the missions of the School of Medicine and the University.” 

Id. at 5-6. 

 The R&E did not recommend disciplinary or remedial action. Doc. 125-

11 at 5-6. However, it noted the “tension between Dr. Packer, her Chairman 

and the Primary Committee” and recommended the IUSM mediate. Id. at 1; 

Doc. 125-49 at 6. No mediation was initiated. Unhappy with the R&E’s 

conclusion, Dean Brater requested a do-over. Doc. 125-28; Doc. 125-7 at ¶¶ 27, 

52, 58; Doc. 113-4 at 12. The second R&E panel was never convened as its 

members did not participate. Doc. 125-7 at ¶¶ 52, 58; Doc. 125-28.   

The favorable R&E report was followed by Dr. Packer’s nomination for 

the 2008 International Okamoto Award for her hypertension research. Doc. 

125-7 at ¶ 24. She won the 2009 American Physiological Society Guyton 

Educator of the Year Award, the nomination in 2007 of which had left Dr. 

Sturek “stunned.” Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 28; Doc. 125-21 at 2; Appendix at A18. In 

his  e-mail, Dr. Sturek acknowledged the Guyton Award as “the most 

prestigious award in the society.” Appendix at A18. But having steeled himself 

against the import of the awards, Dr. Sturek continued to rate Dr. Packer 

unsatisfactory. Id; Doc. 125-19; Doc. 113-8 at 10-11. Further, Dr. Packer’s 

published Guyton Award paper drew criticism from Dr. Sturek for its focus—
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gender discrimination in science. Doc. 125-7 at ¶¶ 29-30; Doc. 125-22 at 8; 

Doc. 113-4 at 16. 

Observing the Tension 

During review meetings with Dr. Sturek, Dr. Packer would bring an 

observer. Dr. Suzuki’s impression: “Dr. Sturek was biased against Dr. Packer 

and intent upon seeing her fail.” Doc. 125-48 at ¶ 6. Dr. Stuart Schrader, an 

IUSM Clinical Assistant Professor, agreed. “Dr. Sturek’s tone, language 

choice, and even body language seemed to express a lack of support, caring, or 

any genuine concern about Dr. Packer’s pertinent issues, views or stated and 

documented points.” Doc. 125-47 at ¶¶ 10-11. Dr. Schrader concluded that 

“gender” might explain why Dr. Sturek acted confrontationally and fostered “a 

non-supportive and hostile work environment.” Id. at ¶¶ 12, 14. 

 Moved to a Closet 

In October of 2009, upon learning that Dr. Packer was preparing an 

unequal pay and retaliation grievance and a University Office of Equal 

Opportunity (“OEO”) complaint, Dr. Sturek evicted Dr. Packer from the 

conference room. Doc. 113-4 at 14. She was then sequestered in a utility 

closet. Doc. 125-5; Doc. 125-33; Doc. 125-44 at 2. This area was later 

condemned for asbestos and bricked over. Doc. 125-5; Doc. 125-46 at 3. Dr. 

Sturek claimed the downgrade was due to Dr. Packer’s failure to generate 

sufficient research funding. Doc. 113-13 at ¶ 35. Dr. Suzuki blasted the 
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“broom closet” assignment as a “pejorative act” and questioned why a 

professor’s office door would be “in a building stairwell.” Doc. 125-48 at ¶ 3. 

Dr. Schrader described the “closeted space under a stairway” as either “a fire 

hazard or assuredly . . . immoral.” Doc. 125-47 at ¶¶ 1, 3. 

The Third Unequal Pay Grievance and First OEO Complaint 

In December of 2009, Dr. Packer filed her third grievance, along with an 

OEO complaint the following month. Doc. 125-7 at ¶¶ 31-32. In the 18-page 

OEO complaint, she challenged the “egregious actions” of Drs. Rhoades and 

Sturek, and asserted she was forced to work in “ill-equipped and unsafe space” 

while being treated “inequitably in promotion and compensation.” Doc. 113-4 

at 2, 16. She concluded: “The history of women in my Department has not 

been good. There have only been four women including me in the tenure track 

on the Department faculty. Of these four women, three have been treated 

disrespectfully and have filed complaints.” Doc. 113-4 at 16. The fourth was 

married to another male faculty member. Id.  

In February of 2010, Dr. Packer prepared a grant proposal that required 

a department chair’s letter of support. Doc. 125-22 at 9; Doc. 105 at ¶ 40; Doc. 

125 at 30. The application was for a University Developing Diverse 

Researchers with InVestigative Expertise (“DRIVE”) grant, which is designed 

to help female faculty obtain research support. Doc. 125-22 at 9; Doc. 125-13 

at ¶¶ 33-34. Dr. Sturek wrote a letter stating that Dr. Packer was lagging in 
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research and implied her work ethic was lacking. Doc. 125-22 at 9. The letter 

prompted Dr. Packer to request help from Kim Kirkland, Director of the 

University Office of Equal Opportunity, who in turn contacted Dr. Fisher, an 

Associate Dean, but no help was forthcoming. Id.; Doc. 113-16 at 11. Dr. 

Packer thus withdrew the DRIVE grant application. Doc. 125-22 at 9; Doc. 

125 at 30.  

Two days before the hearing on Dr. Packer’s equal pay complaint, Dr. 

Sturek facilitated a referral about Dr. Packer “as a person of concerning 

behavior” to the University Behavioral Consulting Team (“BCT”). Doc. 125-7 

at ¶¶ 34, 36; Doc. 125-22 at 9; Doc. 125-30 at 2. He likened Dr. Packer to a 

female professor in Alabama who shot her colleagues. Doc. 113-14 at 27; Doc. 

125-7 at ¶¶ 34, 36; Doc. 125-30 at 7. 

In July of 2010, the Faculty Board of Review issued its findings on Dr. 

Packer’s grievance. Doc. 113-4 at 20. While the Board recognized Dr. Packer’s 

years of productive service to IUSM, along with “clear evidence of a tense 

environment,” it rejected her complaints about laboratory space and workload. 

Doc. 113-4 at 22-23. The Board’s opinion clashed with Dr. Schrader, who 

described the working climate as “untenable” and confirmed Dr. Packer 

worked in an “unsupportive and highly indifferent” environment for over 12 

years. Doc. 125-47 at ¶¶ 13, 15. Dr. Suzuki also found the treatment of Dr. 

Packer “extremely disturbing.” Doc. 125-48 at ¶ 9. Finally, Dr. James 
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McAteer, who chaired the R&E Committee that investigated Dr. Packer, 

acknowledged the “considerable tension” and testified that IUSM’s support of 

her research was “poor,” especially given her “exceptionally heavy” teaching 

load. Doc. 125-49 at ¶ 15. 

Meanwhile, Dean Brater assumed decisional authority over Dr. Packer’s 

OEO complaint (despite being charged in it) and dismissed it after the OEO 

found no violations. Doc. 125-27; Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 40. However, because of the 

acrimony, the OEO sought to transfer Dr. Packer to an area where “she could 

flourish.” Doc. 113-16 at 10; Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 40. An Executive Committee later 

found the OEO failed to afford due process to Dr. Packer by supplanting 

another faculty member with Dean Brater as the decisional authority, which 

created a conflict of interest. Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 56. 

 Dean Brater reopened the BCT referral on Dr. Packer, but after one 

interview, abandoned it. Doc. 125-28. Dr. Sturek informed the Promotion & 

Tenure Committee of the BCT referral. Doc. 125-41. In that e-mail, he 

questioned Dr. Packer’s “perception of reality” and raised the specter of “a 

recent national tragedy at another university.” Id at 2; Doc. 113-14 at 27; Doc. 

125-7 at ¶¶ 36, 38; Doc. 125-30 at 2, 7. 

The Federal EEOC Complaint 

 In the summer of 2010, in order to comply with the Faculty Board of 

Review recommendations, Dr. Sturek assigned Dr. Gunst to assist Dr. Packer 
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in developing a plan for her research goals. Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 39. The 2010-2011 

research plan that Drs. Gunst and Packer developed was accepted by Dr. 

Sturek. Id. But in May, with a month left in the 2010-2011 year, Dr. Sturek 

reversed course and rejected the plan. Id. at ¶ 44. He assigned Dr. Packer new 

goals, which she found unattainable (and Dr. Gunst advised her to ignore). Id. 

Dr. Sturek’s about-face came as Dr. Packer filed a complaint with the federal 

Equal Employment Opportunity Commission on May 31, 2011. Doc. 125-22 at 

2. The complaint alleged discrimination based on sex, retaliation, and equal 

pay. Doc. 125-22 at 3.  

 The following month, Dr. Packer won the American Physiological 

Society Teaching Career Award. Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 45. She was also nominated 

for the University Faculty Colloquium on Excellence in Teaching (“FACET”) 

in 2011. Doc. 125-14; Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 43. Following a rigorous review, the 

FACET Committee approved Dr. Packer’s nomination and recommended her 

induction into FACET in the spring of 2012. Doc. 125-14. The Committee 

extolled her “long and impressive career as a teacher, scientist, and mentor.” 

Doc. 125-14. Finally, she was nominated for a University Trustees Teaching 

award in 2012, and again in 2013. Doc. 125-7 at ¶¶ 50, 59. 

 Dr. Packer’s Compensation 

 Each year, Dr. Sturek received a budget for faculty salary increases and 

allocated funds from the budget as he saw fit. Doc. 113-13 at ¶¶ 36-37. For the 
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2005-2006 academic year, Dr. Packer received a 1% salary increase, raising 

her salary from $71,710 to $72,427. Id. at ¶ 38. For the 2006-2007 academic 

year, she received a 3% increase. Id. at ¶ 39. But that was it—Dr. Packer 

would be denied a salary increase for the 2007-2008, 2008-2009, 2010-2011, 

2011-2012, and 2012-2013 academic years because Dr. Sturek deemed her 

work unsatisfactory. Id. at ¶ 40; Doc. 125-19. Although Dr. Packer received a 

satisfactory evaluation for 2008-2009, she did not receive a salary increase 

because the University froze salaries that year. Doc. 113-13 at ¶ 41. She was 

the sole faculty member who did not receive a raise in 2010-2011. Doc. 125-7 

at ¶ 42; Doc. 125-19. After the 2012-2013 academic year, Dr. Sturek reduced 

Dr. Packer’s pay by 10% to $67,140. Doc. 113-13 at ¶ 43; Doc. 125-19. Dr. 

Sturek said the pay cut was proper because Dr. Packer was “an exception.” 

Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 61. 

 IUSM issued a report entitled “Women in Academic Medicine and 

Science.” Doc. 125-53. The report noted, inter alia, that women lagged 

significantly behind men for new tenures and promotions at IUSM. Id. at 3. 

As for the genders of department chairs, women barely registered in some 

categories. Id. The percentage of tenured female professors in the IUSM 

hovered around 20% between 2007 and 2011. Doc. 125-12.  

 The University also conducted a salary inequity study. Doc. 113-15 at 

52; Doc. 113-22 at 7. The study revealed a significant gap in the pay of male 
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and female faculty members. Doc. 113-22 at 75-77; Doc. 113-22 at 7. Dr. 

Packer received no salary increase based on the study, but Dr. Kempson did. 

Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 31; Doc. 125-19; Doc. 125-18. This, despite his salary being at 

least $19,000 greater than Dr. Packer’s salary between 2001 and 2009. Doc. 

125-19. From 2010 to 2013, his salary was $34,000 more than Dr. Packer’s. 

Id.; Doc. 125-18. Chancellor Bantz could not explain why Dr. Packer was 

never considered for a raise based on the study. Doc. 113-22 at 79. Nor did 

OEO director Kim Kirkland know how many women, if any, received pay 

raises based on it. Doc. 113-16 at 4-5.  

Finally, of the 2011-2012 Physiology Associate Professor Salaries, the 

mean salary of the three male professors was $112,264. Doc. 125-18 at 1. Dr. 

Packer’s salary of $74,600 was 66% of the mean for male associate professors. 

Id. This discrepancy mirrored the difference in salaries prior to 2011, as Dr. 

Packer was $20,000 to $30,000 below the mean salary every year. Id. at 2. 

 Dr. Packer Sues 

 Dr. Packer filed this lawsuit against IUSM and Dr. Sturek on January 

4, 2012. Doc. 1. She asserted claims under Title VII for gender discrimination, 

retaliation, and hostile work environment; violation of the Equal Pay Act; 

breach of contract; and a claim for unpaid wages under Indiana law. Id. Dr. 

Sturek was served a week later. Doc. 5. Four days after service, Dr. Sturek 

removed Dr. Packer from a course, citing anonymous student evaluations. 
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Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 48. The evaluations—lifted from a single class—were 

questionable due to discrepancies and fabrications. Doc. 125-13; Doc. 125-55. 

The anonymous student evaluations also clashed with laudatory peer reviews 

of the same class. Doc. 125-15. Further, Dr. Sturek blocked Dr. Packer’s 2012 

Trustees Teacher Award (and would do the same for her 2013 award) and 

disparaged her during a faculty meeting. Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 50. 

 The Second OEO Complaint 

 In addition to the federal lawsuit, Dr. Packer filed another OEO 

complaint in January of 2012 based on retaliation, discrimination, and 

defamation. Doc. 125-40; Doc. 113-16 at 7. She asserted that Dr. Sturek 

“supported my male colleagues” when students complained about a professor. 

Doc. 125-40 at 2. But Director Kirkland framed the complaint in retaliation 

terms and found none because “it was a supervisor requesting a meeting with 

an employee who refused to meet.” Doc. 113-16 at 10. As for the OEO’s 

investigation, Kirkland only looked at whether Dr. Packer “was correctly 

removed from her teaching assignment,” along with an e-mail regarding 

defamatory remarks by Dr. Sturek. Id. Kirkland spoke with no faculty 

members about the e-mail nor asked for any other communications between 

Drs. Packer and Sturek. Id. Additional evidence of the University’s handling 

of gender-based issues was provided by former IUSM Assistant Professor, Dr. 

Rebecca Evans, who testified that she quit her tenure track position in 2007 
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after her complaints about sexual harassment went unheeded. Doc. 125-31 at 

¶¶ 11, 14. 

Dr. Packer is Fired        

 IUSM’s tenure policy “safeguards academic freedom and economic 

security.” Doc. 125-16. Tenured faculty can only be terminated for willful 

misconduct, incompetence after remedial attempts fail, or if a danger to the 

school. Id. The “willful misconduct” basis expedites the process as it avoids 

peer review and is controlled by the Dean. Id.; Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 62. In July of 

2013, Dr. Sturek sought Dr. Packer’s dismissal for misconduct in not meeting 

Department standards for seven out of eight years. Doc. 113-8 at 10-11.  

 Dr. Sturek’s dismissal demand was forwarded to Dean Brater, who in 

turn requested the Conduct Characterization Committee’s insight. Doc. 125-

55. The Committee considered whether the accusation of neglecting duties 

constituted “serious misconduct.” Doc. 113-7 at 2; Doc. 125-55. Two of the 

three Committee members were Dean Brater appointees. Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 64. 

By a 2-1 vote, the Committee found that failing to meet departmental 

standards for multiple years “could amount to misconduct.” Doc. 113-7; Doc. 

125-55; Doc. 125-20. However, the Committee found an “irretrievable 

breakdown in the relationship” between Dr. Packer and Dr. Sturek, and that 

transferring Dr. Packer to another department was the “only plausible 

resolution.” Doc. 113-7 at 2; Doc. 125-55; Doc. 125-20. 
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 Dr. Richard Ward dissented. Doc. 125-55. Assailing Dr. Sturek for 

“misusing” the Academic Handbook to “frame” the misconduct charge, Dr. 

Ward explained that neglecting duties involved egregious behavior such as 

felony acts and serious acts of moral or academic misconduct—far removed 

from the facts. Doc. 125-55 at 1. Dr. Ward was also “troubled” by the 

anonymous student evaluations, musing, “when did making students unhappy 

become behavioral misconduct?” Doc. 125-55 at 2.  

 Dean Brater recommended Dr. Packer’s dismissal to Vice Chancellor 

Nasser Paydar. Brater admitted “that I have long had concerns about your 

productivity as a faculty member starting with my recommendation against 

the University granting you tenure in 2000. . . . [M]y concerns have been, in 

my opinion, validated over time.” Doc. 125-1 at 3. Paydar concurred and 

forwarded his recommendation to Chancellor Bantz. Doc. 125-20. Bantz 

agreed, citing Dr. Sturek’s unsatisfactory ratings, negative student 

evaluations, and the failure to meet Dr. Sturek’s revised goals in 2011. Doc. 

125-20. While using anonymous student evaluations to penalize faculty 

contravenes University policy, Bantz (who had presented Dr. Packer with the 

Irwin Award for “going above and beyond the call of duty”) dismissed her 

because it was professional failure to neglect “duties that could reasonably be 

expected of a person in that position.” Doc. 125-20; Doc. 125-29. He later 
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admitted firing a tenured faculty member for neglect of duties is rare. Doc. 

125-21 at 3-4.  

 The Amended Complaint 

 Dr. Packer amended the Complaint and filed a second EEOC complaint 

to include her dismissal as further evidence of retaliation and gender 

discrimination. Doc. 105. The last day of her 27-year career at IUSM was 

December 6, 2013. Doc. 125-20.  

Summary Judgment 

 IUSM moved for summary judgment. Doc. 113. The district court found 

Dr. Packer did not establish she was performing her job satisfactorily or was 

treated less favorably than at least one similarly-situated male colleague. 

Appendix at A9. Further, it determined Dr. Packer cited no evidence that Dr. 

Sturek’s motivation to have her terminated was gender based or that she 

experienced a hostile work environment. Appendix at A10. Thus, IUSM was 

entitled to summary judgment on her Title VII disparate treatment claim. Id. 

The court also rejected the retaliation claim because Dr. Packer offered no 

evidence showing that the reason given for her termination, insufficient 

performance in research effort, was pretext for discrimination. Appendix at 

A11. Finally, the court found no enforceable contract between Dr. Packer and 

IUSM upon which she could base a breach of contract claim and rejected her 

unpaid wages claim. Appendix at A16.  
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Dr. Packer appeals. Doc. 139. She is not pursuing her hostile work 

environment or unpaid wages claim on appeal. 
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SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Dr. Packer had the temerity to ask that she be treated like her male 

colleagues. Worse, she (initially) prevailed. But that victory would prove 

Pyrrhic as it sparked a battle that would mar the next 13 years of her 

professional and personal life, and ultimately, result in her termination. 

While IUSM will cast Dr. Packer as a non-performing faculty member 

cloaking herself in tenure, this case is about a female who challenged the 

discriminatory status quo in a male-entrenched environment.  

 The district court accepted IUSM’s contentions at face value while 

downplaying the raft of evidence inferring gender discrimination. The biased 

and unfair treatment of Dr. Packer was confirmed by a series of varied, 

independent sources such as Dr. Pavalko, Dr. Suzuki, Dr. Schrader, Mr. 

Wenzel, Dr. Ward, Mr. Lounsbery, Dr. McAteer, and Dr. Rice. As all but Dr. 

Pavalko were disregarded, the district court viewed the evidence in a light 

most unfavorable to Dr. Packer. Reviewed de novo, the Court should reverse.  

The retaliation claim raises similar concerns. Dr. Packer unwittingly 

made herself a target with her first equal pay grievance as she was stymied at 

every turn thereafter by Dr. Rhoades, Dr. Sturek, and Dean Brater. The 

ongoing retaliatory efforts lasted over a decade, ensnaring scores of faculty 

members, spawning numerous investigations, and sowing dissent in the 

Department. Ironically, Dr. Packer perpetuated the situation by continuing to 
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invoke her rights to equal pay and treatment as the discrimination continued.

 Dr. Packer’s experience is a textbook example of being punished for 

asserting one’s rights. It is atypical only in the time and effort the retaliation 

consumed. The flaws of the district court’s retaliation analysis mirror those of 

the gender discrimination claim. If the facts are viewed in Dr. Packer’s favor, 

summary judgment is precluded.  

Against the backdrop of systemic gender discrimination and retaliation, 

the Equal Pay Act claim takes on a new light. Content to exile a tenured 

professor to a closet while new male hires were provided new labs, paying her 

less than her male colleagues was a foregone conclusion. The numbers reflect 

this harsh reality. At 66% of the mean of male Department Associate 

Professors’ salaries, the pay disparity was not a gap, but a chasm.  

 The district court rejected the Equal Pay Act claim based on the “good 

faith nature” of IUSM’s justifications for the disparity. Appendix at A14. With 

due respect to the district court, IUSM’s actions were the antithesis of good 

faith. IUSM spoke (and continues to do so) with a forked tongue: ridiculing Dr. 

Packer’s teaching as “inept” while recognizing her teaching abilities with 

awards. Putting her in a closet while punishing her for insufficient research 

grants—the sine qua non of which is a lab. Trumpeting the negative student 

evaluations of a single class (four days after served with this suit) while 

ignoring the rest of Dr. Packer’s course load—the heaviest of the Department. 
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And as Dr. Packer’s commendations stacked up, so did Dr. Sturek’s 

desperation, warning the Promotion & Tenure Committee that Dr. Packer 

might resort to mass murder. As such, the Equal Pay Act claim warrants 

reversal because the pay disparity was a natural result of the discrimination 

and retaliation rampant at IUSM.     

 Finally, the district court erred in finding Dr. Packer did not have an 

enforceable contract with IUSM. As a tenured professor, Dr. Packer had the 

contractual right to expect continuous employment. Indiana courts recognize 

teacher tenure is wholly contractual. They also recognize an implied covenant 

of good faith and fair dealing in employment contracts. IUSM’s lack of good 

faith is glaring. Because Dr. Packer had a contract with IUSM which it 

breached, reversal is proper on this count as well. 
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ARGUMENT 

I.  The Standard of Review Is De Novo. 

The Court reviews a district court’s grant of summary judgment de 

novo. Courtney v. Biosound, Inc., 42 F.3d 414, 418 (7th Cir. 1994). In deciding 

whether summary judgment is proper, the Court views the evidence and all 

reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to Dr. Packer. See id. The 

Court approaches summary judgment in employment discrimination cases 

“with special caution.” Id. at 423.  

II. Dr. Packer Established a Prima Facie Case of Gender Discrimination 

When Her Achievements Were Downplayed, She Was Relegated to a 

Closet, Assigned the Heaviest Course Load, Paid Much Less Than Men, 

and Treated Like a Gadfly. 

 

 A. There is evidence inferring IUSM took adverse action against Dr. 

  Packer due to her gender. 

 

 An employer may not discriminate against an individual based on 

gender for compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment. 42 

U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a)(1); Wyninger v. New Venture Gear, Inc., 361 F.3d 965, 978 

(7th Cir. 2004). A plaintiff can avoid summary judgment in two ways, the 

burden-shifting method from McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 

(1973), (indirect method), or presenting direct or circumstantial evidence that 

could permit a jury to conclude the employer acted with discriminatory intent, 

(direct method). Jordan v. City of Gary, 396 F.3d 825, 831-33 (7th Cir. 2005).  

Establishing a prima facie case “should not be such an onerous 
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requirement” as the plaintiff need only present some evidence from which one 

can infer an employer took adverse action against the plaintiff. Humphries v. 

CBOCS West, Inc., 474 F.3d 387, 405-06 (7th Cir. 2007). A plaintiff can use 

prior acts as background evidence in support of a timely Title VII claim. 

National Railroad Passenger Corp. v. Morgan, 536 U.S. 101, 113 (2002). 

Discriminatory intent is determined by considering all the facts, not by 

relying on a specific cut-off date by which conduct must occur. Paz v. 

Wauconda Healthcare & Rehab. Ctr., LLC, 464 F.3d 659, 666 (7th Cir. 2006). 

  1.  The decision makers’ propensity was clear. 

 Under the direct method, a plaintiff may use either direct or 

circumstantial evidence showing an employer acted illegally. Hasan v. Foley & 

Lardner LLP, 552 F.3d 520, 527 (7th Cir. 2008). Circumstantial evidence 

allows a jury to infer intentional discrimination by the decision maker. Id. 

Suspicious timing, ambiguous statements, and other things from which 

discriminatory intent might be drawn are circumstantial evidence that 

compose “a convincing mosaic of discrimination.” Troupe v. May Dep’t Stores 

Co., 20 F.3d 734, 737 (7th Cir. 1994). Further, statements short of an 

admission may suffice as direct evidence if causally related to the decision-

making process or reflecting the decision maker’s propensity. Walker v. 

Glickman, 241 F.3d 884, 888 (7th Cir. 2001).  

 There is direct evidence of gender bias by Dr. Rhoades, Dean Brater, 
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and Dr. Sturek, decision makers who over the course of Dr. Packer’s 

employment precipitated her equal pay grievances, stymied her research 

efforts, and ensured her stagnant salary and eventual termination.  

Seven points demonstrate bias. First, during an equal pay grievance 

hearing, then Department Chair Dr. Rhoades dismissed Dr. Packer’s Ferrer 

Awards because they “had something to do with women’s health.” Doc. 125-7 

at ¶ 9. Second, Dr. Sturek discredited Dr. Packer’s Guyton Award paper 

because it addressed gender discrimination in the science profession. Doc. 

125-7 at ¶¶ 29-30; Doc. 125-22 at 8; Doc. 113-4 at 16. Third, Dr. Sturek’s 

incriminating e-mail: “A huge problem that we will have in reprimanding 

Subah for inept teaching is that she was nominated for an American 

Physiological Society teaching award in 2007.” Appendix at A18. Fourth, Dr. 

Sturek’s subsequent attempt to subvert Dr. Packer’s nomination while he 

supported a male colleague’s nomination. Doc. 113-4 at 11. Fifth, Dr. Sturek 

wrote a “support” letter stating that Dr. Packer was lagging in research and 

implied her work ethic was lacking, forcing her to withdraw the DRIVE grant 

application. Doc. 125-22 at 9; Doc. 125 at 30. Sixth, after observing Dr. 

Packer’s annual review meeting, Dr. Suzuki concluded, “Dr. Sturek was 

biased against Dr. Packer and intent upon seeing her fail.” Doc. 125-48 at ¶ 6. 

Seventh, Dr. Schrader observed a review meeting and determined “gender” 

might explain why Dr. Sturek acted confrontationally and fostered “a non-
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supportive and hostile work environment.” Doc. 125-47 at ¶¶ 12, 14. If Dr. 

Sturek acted with bias while being monitored, one can only imagine his 

conduct when not. In sum, this evidence could permit a jury to find the 

decision makers had a propensity to discriminate against Dr. Packer. 

        The embedded bias at IUSM was also reflected by the treatment of male 

faculty who had difficulty obtaining grant support. Dean Brater summoned 

Drs. Packer, Tanner, Kempson, and Hui and threatened removal of their labs 

because of insufficient NIH grants. Doc. 125-24 at 1-2; Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 12. But 

only the “big complainer,” Dr. Packer, lost her lab. Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 12. The 

male professors who lacked the NIH grants avoided punishment, but also 

prospered, keeping their labs and receiving promotions and yearly raises. Doc. 

125-23 at 2-4; Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 12; Doc. 125-24. Nor can the myth that Dr. 

Packer had insufficient grant funding save IUSM. Dr. Packer made 40 grant 

submissions from 2000 to 2013. Appendix at A19. Dr. Kempson admitted in 

2013 that he had not obtained an NIH grant since 1995. Doc. 125-23 at 2. He 

also went years without research funding, yet escaped unsatisfactory ratings. 

Id. at 8. 

 Machine shop employee David Lounsbery had a unique perspective of 

the disparate treatment. Removed from the faculty’s machinations, he 

confirmed Dr. Packer was given “lesser space and less institutional support of 

her work than were her male colleagues.” Doc. 125-44 at 1. He witnessed Dr. 
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Sturek provide new male hires “newly renovated offices and laboratories while 

Dr. Packer was not provided with any laboratory space, and at times . . . any 

private office space.” Id. at 2. This was echoed by Dr. Rice, who explained that 

working with Dr. Packer was difficult due to “insufficient infrastructure 

support to do much of the work.” Doc. 125-32 at ¶ 8. Drs. Suzuki and Schrader 

suspected gender bias in the banishment of Dr. Packer to an asbestos laden 

closet. Doc. 125-48; Doc. 125-47. Additionally, Dr. Ward criticized Dr. Sturek 

for “misusing” the Academic Handbook to “frame” Dr. Packer’s misconduct 

charge. Doc. 125-55 at 1.  

As the direct evidence of discriminatory intent stacks up, one final point 

bears mention. Female faculty members were rare, and none were hired in the 

Department while Dr. Sturek was Chair. Doc. 125-18. Even so, Dr. Sturek 

encouraged one of the two remaining female faculty members to take early 

retirement because it is “better than nothing.” Doc. 125-4 at 9. This context 

provides the backdrop Dr. Packer faced. And the sum total of the testimony by 

Dr. Pavalko, Dr. Suzuki, Dr. Schrader, and Mr. Lounsbery, to name a few, 

demonstrate a propensity to treat Dr. Packer differently because she is a 

woman.  

  2.  There is at least an inference of improper motive. 

 Dr. Packer also prevails under the indirect method, which requires 

demonstrating she (1) is in a protected class, (2) met her employer’s legitimate 
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expectations, (3) suffered an adverse employment action, and (4) was treated 

worse than similarly situated male employees. See Ballance v. City of 

Springfield, 424 F.3d 614, 617 (7th Cir. 2005). The burden then shifts to the 

employer to articulate a legitimate nondiscriminatory reason for the adverse 

action, and then back to the employee to prove that reason was pretextual. Id. 

An employee need only produce evidence from which a rational fact-finder 

could infer the employer lied about its proffered reasons for termination. 

Weisbrot v. Medical College of Wisconsin, 79 F.3d 677, 682 (7th Cir. 1996).  

 Dr. Packer is in a protected class. Her termination and pay cut 

constituted adverse employment actions. Thus, at issue is whether Dr. Packer 

met IUSM’s legitimate expectations and whether she was treated worse than 

similarly situated males. The district court found she did not establish these 

two factors. But because the court took the biased decision makers at their 

word while ignoring the “extremely disturbing” context, its analysis fails. See 

Doc. 125-48 at ¶ 9. 

 a.  Dr. Packer met IUSM’s legitimate expectations. 

While the relevant time for determining the effectiveness of an 

employee is the time of discharge, previous employment history may be 

probative in assessing performance at termination. Fortier v. Ameritech, 161 

F.3d 1106, 1113 (7th Cir. 1998).  
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Dr. Packer not only met IUSM’s legitimate expectations, she exceeded 

them. She won the Ferrer Award in 2001 and 2002. Doc. 125-50 at 2. She won 

the 2007 Irwin Excellence Award. Doc. 125-45. She was nominated for the 

2008 International Okamoto Award for her hypertension research. Doc. 125-7 

at ¶ 24. She won the 2009 American Physiological Society Guyton Educator of 

the Year Award, which Dr. Sturek described as “the most prestigious award in 

the society.” Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 28; Doc. 125-21 at 2; Appendix at A18. Her work 

from 2001-2009 was analyzed by the R&E, which concluded it was “strong” 

and at “a high level.” Doc. 125-11 at 4. In 2011, she won the American 

Physiological Society Teaching Career Award. Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 45. She was 

approved for the University Faculty Colloquium on Excellence in Teaching 

(“FACET”) in 2012 based on her “long and impressive career as a teacher, 

scientist, and mentor.” Doc. 125-14; Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 43. Finally, in 2012, and 

again in 2013, she was nominated for a University Trustees Teaching award. 

Doc. 125-7 at ¶¶ 50, 59. 

Against this slate of awards, IUSM clings to the unsatisfactory ratings 

of Dr. Sturek, the same individual tasked with removing Dr. Packer in 2004 

and caught boasting in 2006 that he would get rid of her. Unbiased, 

prestigious, and national organizations lauded Dr. Packer while Dr. Sturek 

maligned her as a potential murderer.  
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Even setting Dr. Sturek’s bias aside, his ratings cannot withstand 

scrutiny. One basis for the unsatisfactory ratings was Dr. Packer’s lack of 

grant submissions. Doc. 114 at 32-33. Any efforts by IUSM to perpetuate this 

myth on appeal should be rejected. Dr. Packer submitted 14 external grants 

and 6 internal grants from 2004 to 2012. Appendix at A19. Further, she made 

40 grant submissions—3.3 grants per year—from 2000 to 2013. Id. This 

sufficed for male professors such as Dr. Kempson. Doc. 125-23 at 2-10. 

Further, the 40 grant submissions were made in spite of Dean Brater and Dr. 

Sturek. “You can’t get a grant if you don’t have the (lab) space.” Doc. 125-8 at 

4. It is even more difficult when efforts are made “to intentionally hinder Dr. 

Packer’s ability to conduct research.” Doc. 125-48 at ¶¶ 1, 2. These statements 

from Dr. Gunst and Dr. Suzuki confirm Dr. Packer’s testimony that her 

research efforts were undermined throughout her tenure, the nadir of which 

was the “immoral” “broom closet” assignment. See Doc. 125-48 at ¶ 3; Doc. 

125-47 at ¶¶ 1, 3; Doc. 125-7. 

 Another basis for Dr. Sturek’s unsatisfactory ratings was Dr. Packer’s 

publication efforts. But from 2003 to 2013, she published 14 basic science 

research manuscripts and 8 science education papers. Doc. 113-5 at 20-24; 

Doc. 113-17 at 22-34. Dr. Sturek did not credit her for any of her invited 

papers or other science research publications because she was not listed as 

either the first or last author. Doc. 113-1 at 15, 27, 35-36. Further, any 
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deficiencies in her publication output should be put in context. Dr. Packer had 

the highest teaching load throughout her employment. Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 17; Doc. 

125-11 at 4; Doc. 125-32 at ¶ 7; Doc. 125-49 at ¶ 15. Recognizing that no other 

faculty member taught as many courses as Dr. Packer, Dr. Suzuki suspected 

an effort “to unreasonably overload her with teaching responsibilities.” Doc. 

125-48 at ¶¶ 2, 7. 

IUSM’s case teeters on Dr. Sturek’s unsatisfactory ratings. But any 

reason proffered by Dr. Sturek for rating Dr. Packer unsatisfactory has been 

discredited. He boasted in front of Mr. Wenzel that he would get rid of her. 

Doc. 125-9. He advised Dr. Rice not to work with her. Doc. 125-32 at ¶ 8. He 

expressed dismay when she won awards. Appendix at A18. He warned the 

Behavioral Consulting Team that Dr. Packer might go on a shooting spree. 

Doc. 113-14 at 27; Doc. 125-7 at ¶¶ 34, 36; Doc. 125-30 at 7. He repeated that 

provocation to the Promotion & Tenure Committee, citing “a recent national 

tragedy at another university.” Doc. 113-14 at 27; Doc. 125-7 at ¶¶ 36, 38; Doc. 

125-30 at 2, 7. Such brazen efforts to undermine Dr. Packer’s work and poison 

her reputation prove Dr. Sturek had no objectivity, exposing his ratings as a 

sham.     

 b.  Dr. Packer was treated worse than her male colleagues. 

 When determining if employees are similarly situated, the Court 

considers whether the employees had the same job description, standards, 
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supervisor, and comparable qualifications. Bio v. Fed. Express Corp., 424 F.3d 

593, 597 (7th Cir. 2005). The Court does not apply the similarly situated 

requirement “mechanically or inflexibly.” Hull v. Stoughton Trailers, LLC, 445 

F.3d 949, 952 (7th Cir. 2006).  

 Drs. Tanner, Kempson, and Hui (all males) received promotions and 

raises despite their lack of grant funding. Id.; Doc. 125-6; Doc. 125-24. Dr. 

Kempson admitted he had not obtained a single NIH grant since 1995. Doc. 

125-23 at 2. He also said there were “years” when he had no research funding 

at all, but was not rated unsatisfactory, let alone moved to a closet. Id. at 8. 

When Dr. Packer was being recognized nationally and by the University 

for her teaching abilities, Dr. Sturek plucked a set of anonymous student 

evaluations from one semester out of 55 semesters of teaching. The 

evaluations were riddled with discrepancies and clashed with laudatory peer 

reviews. Doc. 125-13; Doc. 125-55; Doc. 125-15. Moreover, there was no 

evidence student evaluations were used in such a manner against male 

faculty members. In fact, Dr. Packer’s second OEO complaint asserted that 

Dr. Sturek “supported my male colleagues” when students complained about a 

professor. Doc. 125-40 at 2. The use of such evaluations underscores Dr. 

Sturek’s comment to Dr. Packer that she was an “exception.” See Doc. 125-7 at 

¶ 61 



 37 

 Determined to remove Dr. Packer, Dr. Sturek and Dean Brater 

marginalized her accomplishments while magnifying, if not manufacturing, 

her weaknesses. Her efforts to get funding were sabotaged and vital resources 

were withheld. Dean Brater could have instructed Dr. Sturek to provide a lab 

and operating funds as was done for the male faculty. Doc. 125-13 at 12; Doc. 

125-24; Doc. 125-23. Instead, she was stuck in a closet while teaching 4 to 6 

courses every year. The record thus establishes men were treated significantly 

better than Dr. Packer. 

          c.   The reasons for discriminatory treatment are pretextual 

 Pretext exists if there are implausibilities or inconsistencies in the 

employer’s proffered reasons such that a reasonable person could find them 

unbelievable. Reeves v. Sanderson Plumbing Prods., Inc., 530 U.S. 133, 143 

(2000).  

As set forth above, Dr. Packer was meeting IUSM’s legitimate 

expectations. Dr. Sturek’s discredited ratings demonstrate the catalyst for her 

pay cut and termination was pretextual. Dr. Packer was treated like a second-

class citizen and any proffered reason for it is inherently pretextual. 

Additionally, using the unsatisfactory evaluations from 2004-2009 ignored 

(and contradicted) the R&E’s evaluation of her performance during that time. 

Doc. 125-11 at 2-4; Doc. 125-50. The R&E found her “effort and performance 

in teaching to be strong.” Doc. 125-11 at 4.  It also found she attempted to 
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secure extramural funding even though she carried “a heavy teaching load . . . 

of 4-6 courses per year” for six years. Id. at 4-6. Dr. Packer thus made “valued 

contributions to the missions of the School of Medicine and the University.” 

Id. at 5-6.  

While Dr. Sturek deserves much of the criticism, he was not alone. Dr. 

Rhoades and Dean Brater also fought Dr. Packer’s efforts for equal pay and 

promotion. Dean Brater labeled Dr. Packer as a “big complainer.” Doc. 125-7 

at ¶ 12. Dr. Pavalko admitted Dean Brater told him to “terminate Dr. Packer.” 

Doc. 125-2 at 9-10; Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 14. When Dr. Sturek took over, he began 

fulfilling Dean Brater’s aim. Doc. 125-2 at 8-10; Doc. 125-9; Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 16. 

Dean Brater also met with Dr. Sturek and Dr. Pavalko multiple times to 

discuss removing Dr. Packer. Doc. 125-2 at 3; 14-16. 

 The record contains further evidence IUSM’s position on pretext is 

untenable. Dr. Schrader admitted Dr. Packer toiled in an “unsupportive and 

highly indifferent” environment for over 12 years. Doc. 125-47 at ¶¶ 13, 15. 

Dr. Suzuki found it “extremely disturbing.” Doc. 125-48 at ¶ 9. Finally, Dr. 

James McAteer, who chaired the R&E that investigated Dr. Packer, 

acknowledged the “considerable tension” and that IUSM’s support of her 

research was “poor.” This evidence creates an issue of fact. 

 B. Dr. Packer’s unequal pay violated Title VII. 

 The Amended Complaint alleged the disproportionate compensation was 
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due to Dr. Packer’s gender in violation of two separate, but compatible legal 

theories: the Equal Pay Act and Title VII. Doc. 105 at ¶¶ at 83, 87. “Even a 

dollar’s difference based on sex violates both Title VII and the Equal Pay Act.” 

King v. Acosta, 678 F.3d 470, 473 (7th Cir. 2014). The difference here was not 

$1, but $30,000. 

For a Title VII claim, a plaintiff must allege her lower pay was due to 

discrimination. Cullen v. Ind. Univ. Bd. of Trs., 338 F.3d 693, 704 (7th Cir. 

2003). Dr. Packer will not belabor the discrimination evidence addressed 

above, but simply incorporate that argument and the employment history of 

the fact section here.  

As for Dr. Packer’s compensation, the numbers speak for themselves. 

From the beginning of her IUSM career to the end, Dr. Packer was $20,000 to 

$30,000 below the mean salary. Doc. 125-18; Doc. 125-19. She was denied a 

salary increase for the 2007-2008, 2008-2009, 2010-2011, 2011-2012, and 

2012-2013 academic years. Doc. 125-19. She was the sole faculty member to 

not receive a raise in 2010-2011. Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 42; Doc. 125-19. Worse, after 

the 2012-2013 academic year, Dr. Sturek cut Dr. Packer’s pay by 10% to 

$67,140 because she was “an exception.” Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 61; Doc. 113-13 at ¶ 

43; Doc. 125-19. 

The significant pay differential cannot be excused by differences in the 

work done by her male colleagues, as will be explained below in Section III, 
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infra. Thus, there is a reasonable inference that the consistently lower pay 

was attributed to IUSM’s frustration with Dr. Packer’s focus on gender issues 

in science, equal pay grievances, and complaints to the OEO and the EEOC. 

 C. The district court misconstrued the record and diluted   

  IUSM’s dismissal standard. 

 

The summary judgment Order is plagued by a series of misconceptions 

about the record. First, the court found “the salary chart and vague assertions 

do not point directly to gender discrimination without resorting to inferences.” 

Appendix at A8. Dismissing such critical evidence with a wave of the hand is 

troubling. The salary related exhibits were clear. See Doc. 125-18; Doc. 125-19. 

They compared male and female associate professor teaching load data as well 

as salary data not only for 2011-2012 but also 1995-2012. Dr. Packer’s 2011-

2012 salary of $74,600 was 66% of the mean for male associate professors. Id. 

This discrepancy mirrored the difference in salaries prior to 2011, as Dr. 

Packer was $20,000 to $30,000 below the mean salary every year. Id.  

 Second, the district court ignored the vast array of testimony that 

demonstrated the disparate treatment of Dr. Packer. No inferences were 

needed from the following: 

   •  Dr. Pavalko admitting he was told to get rid of Dr. Packer. Doc. 

      125-2 at 9-10. 

 

  •  Dr. Suzuki finding Dr. Packer’s treatment “extremely   

      disturbing.” Doc. 125-48 at ¶ 9. 
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  •  Dr. Schrader citing “gender” as possible motive for Dr. Packer’s 

      mistreatment. Doc. 125-47 at ¶¶ 12, 14. 

 

  •  Mr. Lounsbery observing “lesser space and less institutional  

      support of her work” than the men. Doc. 125-44 at 1. 

 

 •  Dr. McAteer admitting IUSM’s support of Dr. Packer was      

      “poor.” Doc. 125-9 at ¶ 15. 

 

  •  Dr. Rice observing “insufficient infrastructure support to do  

      much of the work.” Doc. 125-32 at ¶ 8. 

 

  •  Dr. Ward lambasting Dr. Sturek for “misusing” the Academic  

      Handbook to “frame” the misconduct charge. Doc. 125-55 at 1. 

 

Third, the district court noted that the University Academic Handbook 

permits dismissal of a tenured faculty member for “serious personal or 

professional misconduct.” Appendix at A4-A5. The court then noted the 

Handbook’s Supplement “defines such misconduct to include persistent 

neglect of duties or persistent failure to carry out the tasks reasonably 

expected of a person in that position.” Id. In reality, the Supplement defines 

such misconduct to include “willful persistent neglect of duties.” Omitting 

“willful” alters the standard significantly. Teaching 4 to 6 courses a year 

every year is not a “willful” neglect of duties. Nor can the Irwin Excellence 

Award, Guyton Award, FACET invitation, and R&E’s findings be reconciled 

with a “willful” neglect of duties. Removing the “willful” language is yet 

another reversible aspect of the Order. 
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Fourth, the district court adopted IUSM’s criticism concerning Dr. 

Packer’s failure to generate two grant submissions a year. But in actuality, 

the evidence demonstrated she averaged 3.3 grant applications a year. 

Compare Appendix at A14 with A19.   

Fifth, Department Guidelines state that “excellent” performance in 

teaching is satisfied by “creative scholarship in course or curriculum 

development . . . awards for outstanding teaching performance” or “national 

recognition for teaching or medical education initiatives.” Doc. 113-8 at 23. 

However, Dr. Sturek gave Dr. Packer no credit for her science education 

publications or other scholarly activity or national recognition in teaching, 

Doc. 113-17 at 30-33, even after the R&E’s 2009 recommendation that Dr. 

Packer could be promoted to full professor based on excellence in teaching if 

she increased her scholarly activity. Doc. 125-11 at 4.  

The summary judgment Order contains significant flaws that cannot 

survive the Court’s de novo review. The evidence was simply not viewed in a 

light most favorable to Dr. Packer. 

 D. Summation. 

 Dr. Packer’s pay, conditions, and terms of employment were altered 

because Dr. Sturek viewed Dr. Packer as an “exception.” Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 61. 

Whether considered background or direct, the record teems with evidence of 

discrimination. And if merely an “inference of improper motive can be drawn, 
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there must be a trial.” Shager v. Upjohn Co., 913 F.2d 398, 401 (7th Cir. 

1990). 

III. The Vast Pay Disparity Presents an Issue of Fact on The Equal Pay Act 

 Claim. 

 

A. Dr. Packer fought 13 years for equal pay. 

The Equal Pay Act prohibits employers from paying employees different 

wages because of their gender. 29 U.S.C. § 206(d). An Equal Pay Act violation 

exists when a male is paid higher wages, for equal work requiring similar skill 

and effort, and the work was performed under similar conditions. Stopka v. 

Alliance of Am. Insurers, 141 F.3d 681, 685 (7th Cir. 1998). Proof of 

discriminatory intent is not required. Id. Once a prima facie case under the 

Equal Pay Act is established, the burden of proof shifts to the employer to 

show that the pay disparity is due to a seniority system, a merit system, or 

any factor other than sex. 29 U.S.C. § 206(d)(1)(i)-(iv); Fallon v. Illinois, 882 

F.2d 1206, 1211 (7th Cir. 1989). Only when the defendant satisfies this 

burden of proof is the plaintiff required to present evidence of pretext. Id. 

         B.   Male professors were paid more for the same work. 

Similarly situated individuals must have dealt with the same supervisor 

and be subjected to the same standards. Radue v. Kimberly-Clark Corp, 219 

F.3d 612, 617-18 (7th Cir. 2000). That standard is met here as all Department 

faculty members answered to the Department Chair, and ultimately, the 
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IUSM Dean. Faculty members were also subjected to the same rating system 

and their salaries were set by the Department Chair. Dr. Packer’s male 

colleagues were thus similarly situated. 

The work of faculty members was also the same. To determine whether 

two jobs are equal, the Court considers whether the jobs have a “common core 

of tasks, i.e., whether a significant portion of the two jobs is identical.” 

Cullen, 338 F.3d at 698. Once a plaintiff establishes a common core of tasks, 

the Court considers whether any additional tasks make the jobs substantially 

different. Id. When assessing job duties, each of the elements listed in the 

Equal Pay Act (skill, effort, and responsibilities) must be met individually to 

establish a prima facie case. Id.; 29 C.F.R. § 1620.14.  

The common core of tasks at IUSM includes teaching, writing, and 

researching. While faculty members may have accorded varying degrees of 

effort to each endeavor, all three were integral to their positions. Further, the 

three tasks were largely identical. While the topic of a class or paper might be 

different, the actual act of teaching and writing was not. And while the details 

of scientific research may vary, the process and goals are similar. Thus, the 

Department work demanded similar skills, effort, and responsibilities.  

C. Circuit precedent warrants reversal. 

IUSM has not proven the basis for the $30,000 pay differential, which is 

reversible error per King v. Acosta Sales and Marketing, Inc., 678 F.3d 470 
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(7th Cir. 2012). When the defendant in King hired the plaintiff as a business 

manager, all 12 of defendant’s male business managers started at salaries of 

at least $40,000, while only 5 of the 8 female business managers did. Id. at 

473. Further, only one of the male business managers made less than $60,000, 

while only one of the women made more than $60,000. Id. The defendant 

asserted the disparities were acceptable because the men had more education 

and experience. Id. The Court reversed because the defendant had not proven 

that education and experience accounted for the unequal pay. Id. at 474. 

Similarly, other than purely pretextual excuses, IUSM has not proven its 

reasons for Dr. Packer earning 66 cents on the dollar. 

The Court also found an issue of fact regarding the justification for pay 

disparity in Boumehdi v. Plastag Holdings, LLC, 489 F.3d 781 (7th Cir. 2007). 

The defendant’s key measure of performance in Boumehdi was an annual 

review, the validity of which was disputed. Id.  at 794. The Boumehdi plaintiff 

also offered evidence that her prior supervisor perceived that she performed 

as well as the male employee. Id. Like Boumehdi, Dr. Packer has also 

presented evidence that her performance ratings were unreliable and that 

other arbiters of her abilities—the R&E, FACET, and American Physiological 

Society—lauded her work.  
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D.  IUSM’s reasons for discriminatory pay are pretextual.  

 

Any contentions that the different salaries for the male professors were 

caused by education, experience, or performance ratings are pretextual. Dr. 

Packer incorporates the pretext discussion above, but a few additional points 

are necessary. Dr. Packer can demonstrate pretext directly by showing that “a 

discriminatory reason more likely motivated” the compensation, or indirectly 

by showing that IUSM’s explanations are “unworthy of credence.” See Senske 

v. Sybase, Inc., 588 F.3d 501, 506-07 (7th Cir. 2009). Under either method, 

pretext exists. The pretext inquiry focuses on whether the employer’s reason 

was honest, not accurate. Rudin v. Lincoln Land Community College, 420 F.3d 

712, 727 (7th Cir. 2005). As set forth above, the reasons proffered by IUSM for 

rating Dr. Packer unsatisfactory cannot be considered honest when Dr. Sturek 

boasted he would get rid of her, and Dean Brater was looking for “validation.” 

See Doc. 125-1 at 3. 

IV. Dr. Packer Established a Prima Facie Case of Retaliation When She 

Repeatedly Challenged The Pay Structure and Discriminatory Treatment 

Over 13 Years. 

 

 Dating back to her grievances about tenure and equal pay in 2000, Dr. 

Packer’s continued employment provoked Dean Brater and Dr. Sturek. The tension 

would grow as Dr. Packer engaged the grievance and OEO processes.   

 A. Dr. Packer engaged in statutorily protected activity. 

 

Title VII protects employees from retaliation for complaining about 
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discrimination. Antonetti v. Abbott Labs., 563 F.3d 587, 592 (7th Cir. 2009). 

Objecting to unequal pay, discrimination, and retaliation is statutorily 

protected activity. Id.; 42 U.S.C. 2000e-3(a). An actual Title VII violation is 

not a prerequisite. Hunt-Golliday v. Metropolitan Water, 104 F.3d 1004, 1014 

(7th Cir. 1997). Additionally, Title VII’s anti-retaliation provisions are not 

limited to “ultimate employment decisions.” Burlington N. & Santa Fe R.R. 

Co. v. White, 548 U.S. 53, 67 (2006). They also include “materially adverse” 

actions that would dissuade a reasonable worker from making a 

discrimination charge. Id. at 67-68. Dr. Packer’s formal OEO and EEOC 

charges are an “obvious” form of statutorily protected activity. See Silverman 

v. Board of Educ. of City of Chicago, 637 F.3d 729, 740 (7th Cir. 2011). 

Nevertheless, an informal complaint can constitute protected activity. Casna 

v. City of Loves Park, 574 F.3d 420, 427 (7th Cir. 2009). 

B. The catalysts for the adverse employment actions were Dr.   

  Packer’s grievances, complaints, and lawsuit. 

 

 Retaliation can be shown under the direct or indirect method of proof. 

Majors v. Gen. Elec. Co., 714 F.3d 527, 537 (7th Cir. 2013). The direct method 

requires the plaintiff prove statutorily protected activity, an adverse 

employment action, and a causal connection between the two. Treadwell v. 

Sec’y of State, 455 F.3d 778, 781 (7th Cir. 2006). Circumstantial evidence 

under the direct method includes: (1) suspicious timing, ambiguous 
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statements, or behaviors; (2) evidence that similarly situated employees were 

treated differently; or (3) a pretextual reason for the adverse employment 

action. Kasten v. Saint-Gobain Performance Plastics Corp., 703 F.3d 966, 973 

(7th Cir. 2012). The adverse employment actions Dr. Packer experienced 

include the 10% pay cut, being put in a closet, Dr. Sturek’s letter stymieing 

her DRIVE grant application, and her firing.  

1.   The timing was suspicious. 

The causal link of a retaliation claim is often established by showing a 

short time frame between the employee’s complaint and the adverse 

employment action. Pantoja v. American NTN Bearing Manufacturing Corp., 

495 F.3d 840 (7th Cir. 2007). When an adverse employment action closely 

follows protected expression and the plaintiff can show the person who 

imposed the adverse action knew of the protected conduct, causation exists. 

Valentino v. Chicago Heights, 575 F.3d 664, 673 (7th Cir. 2009). 

Precedent demonstrates why a causal connection exists here. The Court 

in Pantoja found that the plaintiff stated a claim of retaliation, based largely 

on the temporal proximity of his complaints of unfair treatment to his 

performance warnings and termination. Pantoja, 495 F.3d at 850. Also 

instructive is Greengrass v. International Monetary Systems, No. 13-2901 (7th 

Cir. Jan. 12, 2015). “Animus might also be inferred from [the supervisor’s] 

decision to forward [plaintiff’s] complaint to her alleged harasser with the 
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message, ‘Call me before you explode.’” Slip Op. at 10. That the method of 

retaliation was never discussed was irrelevant since the e-mail raised the 

reasonable inference the defendant held animus about the EEOC process and 

plaintiff’s decision to use it. Id. Finally, in Loudermilk, the plaintiff was fired 

after handing his supervisor a written complaint. Loudermilk v. Best Pallet 

Co., LLC, 636 F.3d 312, 314 (7th Cir. 2011). The Court rejected the 

defendant’s reason for the termination, concluding “an employer who 

advances a fishy reason takes the risk that disbelief of the reason will support 

an inference that it is pretext.” Id. at 315.  

Suspicious timing is a plaintiff’s “evidentiary ally.” Lalvani v. Cook 

Cnty., 269 F.3d 785, 790 (7th Cir. 2001). That description applies here as the 

most blatant retaliation incidents followed Dr. Packer’s protected activity. 

  a. Dr. Sturek evicts Dr. Packer and sinks her grant   

   application. 

 

 In October of 2009, upon learning that Dr. Packer was preparing an 

unequal pay and retaliation grievance and an OEO complaint, Dr. Sturek 

evicted Dr. Packer from the conference room and moved her to a closet. Doc. 

113-4 at 14; Doc. 125-5; Doc. 125-33; Doc. 125-44 at 2. While Dr. Sturek 

claimed the downgrade was due to Dr. Packer’s failure to generate sufficient 

research funding, Doc. 113-13 at ¶ 35, the timing is simply too coincidental 
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and the “broom closet” assignment too “pejorative” to be believable. See Doc. 

125-48 at ¶ 3. 

Additionally, two months after she filed her 18-page OEO complaint 

which challenged the “egregious actions” of Drs. Rhoades and Sturek, and 

asserted she was being treated “inequitably in promotion and compensation,” 

Doc. 113-4 at 2, 16, Dr. Sturek wrote a “support” letter stating that Dr. Packer 

was lagging in research and implied her work ethic was lacking. Doc. 125-22 

at 9. Dr. Packer was thus forced to withdraw the DRIVE grant application. 

Doc. 125-22 at 9; Doc. 125 at 30. He also facilitated a referral about Dr. Packer 

“as a person of concerning behavior” to the University Behavioral Consulting 

Team. Doc. 125-22 at 9; Doc. 125-30 at 2. Once again, the timing is suspicious, 

especially since Dr. Sturek’s positions were baseless. 

b.  Dr. Sturek’s 11th-hour revision of Dr. Packer’s   

  performance goals. 

 

In May of 2011, with only one month left in the 2010-2011 academic 

year Dr. Sturek rejected Dr. Packer’s plan and assigned her new goals that 

were unattainable. Doc. 125-7 at ¶¶ 44-46. Dr. Sturek’s reversal came about 

as Dr. Packer was preparing her EEOC Complaint. Doc. 125-22 at 2.  

That Dr. Packer was being set up to fail is exemplified by Dr. Sturek’s 

2010-2011 review of her. The review is for the “academic year: July 1, 2010-

June 30, 2011.” Doc. 113-13 at 35. In the review, Dr. Sturek notes Dr. Packer 
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met every single goal as designated on the review. Id. at 35-37. Yet she was 

rated unsatisfactory based on “the performance plan (dated 5/29/2011).” Id. at 

36, 37. Thus, a plan created with a month left in the review period is twice 

cited as the basis for an unsatisfactory rating. Id. Given the multitude of 

evidence impugning Dr. Sturek, Dean Brater, and IUSM as a whole, there is a 

strong inference this last second change had ulterior motives. See Lang v. Ill. 

Dep’t of Children & Family Servs., 361 F.3d 416, 420 (7th Cir. 2004) (vacating 

summary judgment because “evidence raises the inference that [the 

supervisor] was setting [plaintiff] up to fail by enforcing department policies 

against him in an unreasonable manner”).  

Nor can IUSM dismiss these objections as immaterial. Chancellor Bantz 

used Dr. Packer’s purported failure to meet Dr. Sturek’s 2010-2011 revised 

performance plan as a reason to fire her. Doc. 113-22 at 19.  

 c. Four days after being served, Dr. Sturek pulls Dr. Packer  

   from a class. 

 

Four days after service, Dr. Sturek removed Dr. Packer from a course, 

citing anonymous student evaluations. Doc. 5; Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 48. His timing 

is again impeccable. But equally compelling is that the evaluations were taken 

from a single class; contained discrepancies and fabrications; and contradicted 

laudatory peer reviews. Doc. 125-13; Doc. 125-55; Doc. 125-15. Further, Dr. 

Sturek blocked Dr. Packer’s 2012 Trustees Teacher Award (and would do the 
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same for her 2013 award) and disparaged her during a faculty meeting. Doc. 

125-7 at ¶ 50.  

In Lang, the timing of plaintiff’s discipline was “extremely suspicious” 

because the plaintiff had never been criticized during the five previous years 

of his employment. Lang, 361 F.3d at 420. Similarly, Dr. Packer had gone 55 

semesters without having her student evaluations being used against her or 

her teaching credentials questioned. Also analogous is Culver v. Gorman & 

Co., 416 F.3d 540 (7th Cir. 2005). The Culver plaintiff demonstrated a causal 

link as “only three days had elapsed between Culver’s initial complaint of 

discrimination and her termination.” Id. at 546. The four-day lapse here 

confirms a causal connection.  

Like the failure to satisfy Dr. Sturek’s shifting performance goals, the 

anonymous student evaluations were a basis for firing Dr. Packer. This, 

despite the University prohibiting the use of evaluations for such purposes.  

Doc. 125-29. Finally, Chancellor Bantz admitted firing a tenured faculty 

member for neglect of duties is rare. Doc. 125-21 at 3-4. More so when it is 

based on anonymous student evaluations. 

C. The evidence is the height of pretextual. 

 The same evidence used to establish a prima facie case is often 

sufficient to allow a jury to determine pretext. Valentino v. Village of South 

Chicago Heights, 575 F.3d 664, 673 (7th Cir. 2009). Such is the case here. 
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With tenure thwarting most roads to dismissal, Dr. Sturek built a crudely 

constructed case against Dr. Packer based on selected student evaluations. 

With Dean Brater engineering the dismissal, Dr. Packer was fighting a fait 

accompli.  

 Ultimately, IUSM is at odds with itself. In its summary judgment brief, 

Dr. Packer is “a persistently non-performing faculty member who regards 

tenure as a license to ignore department expectations and performance 

standards.” Doc. 114 at 9. But in July of 2010, the University Faculty Board of 

Review recognized Dr. Packer’s years of productive service. Doc. 113-4 at 22-

23. The University FACET Committee in 2012 extolled her “long and 

impressive career as a teacher, scientist, and mentor.” Doc. 125-14. She was 

nominated for a University Trustees Teaching award in 2012, and again in 

2013. Doc. 125-7 at ¶¶ 50, 59. This disconnect shows why IUSM’s position is 

futile.  

 D. The district court committed reversible error. 

 The district court found Dr. Packer did not offer sufficient evidence to 

support her retaliation claim. “With regard to the direct method, she offers 

only her self-serving affidavit in support of her claim, much of which is not 

based upon Dr. Packer’s personal knowledge.” Appendix at A11. The court’s 

reasoning is troubling. The fact that Dr. Packer was retaliated against is 

based largely on her personal knowledge. Simply because she recited 
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conversations with party opponents is a poor reason to dismiss her testimony 

as “self serving.” 

 The district court also rejected retaliation under the indirect method 

because Dr. Packer did not offer “any evidence showing that the reason given 

for her termination–insufficient performance in research efforts–was pretext 

for discrimination.” Appendix at A11. But the court disregarded the deposition 

testimony of Drs. Kempson, Pavalko, and Gunst, and other exhibits including 

the R&E Report, grant submission data, assigned lab and office space photos, 

University reports on gender discrimination, salary data, and Dr. Packer’s 

awards. This is not viewing the evidence in Dr. Packer’s favor. 

V. Dr. Packer Demonstrated a Question of Fact on Her Breach of Contract 

 Claim Because an Enforceable Contract Existed. 

 

Dr. Packer alleged IUSM breached its contract with her. Doc. 105. 

Specifically, she asserted “the contractual right to expect continuous 

employment until age of retirement.” Id. at ¶ 95.  

A.   Tenure is a creature of contract. 

Indefinite contracts are protected by the Contracts Clause under 

Indiana ex rel. Anderson v. Brand, 303 U.S. 95 (1938). In Brand, the Supreme 

Court held that an Indiana teachers’ tenure law confers contractual rights 

that are protected against impairment by the Contract Clause. 303 U.S. at 

105-07. Additionally, Indiana courts consistently hold that “teacher tenure is 
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wholly contractual.” Bruck v. State ex rel. Money, 91 N.E.2d 349, 354 (Ind. 

1950). Termination destroys the underlying contractual right and therefore is 

a substantial impairment. Brand held “the petitioner had a valid contract 

with the respondent, the obligation of which would be impaired by the 

termination of her employment.” 303 U.S. at 104. See also Bd. of Sch. 

Comm’rs of the City of Indianapolis v. Walpole, 801 N.E.2d 622, 625 (Ind. 

2004) (permanent teachers had “a property interest in their jobs”). 

Tenure protects a professor from dismissal, except for incompetence or 

serious misconduct. Collins v. Parsons College, 203 N.W.2d 594, 597 (Iowa 

1973). IUSM adopted the American Association of University Professors and 

the American Association of Colleges’ statement on academic freedom and 

tenure. Doc. 125-38. That statement provides: “Tenure is a means to certain 

ends; specifically: (a) Freedom of teaching and research and of extramural 

activities, and (b) A sufficient degree of economic security to make the 

profession attractive to men and women of ability.” Id. at 1. Further, tenure is 

“indispensable to the success of an institution in fulfilling its obligations to its 

students and to society.” Id. IUSM subverted these principles when it 

breached its contract with Dr. Packer. 

B.   The covenant of good faith was discarded. 

Indiana recognizes an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing for 

employment contracts. Weiser v. Godby Bros., Inc., 659 N.E.2d 237 (Ind. App. 
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1995). In determining whether the implied covenant was violated, the party’s 

manner of performance is examined. There is no requirement that bad faith 

be shown; instead, the plaintiff need only show a lack of good faith. 23 S. 

Williston, Contracts § 63.22, at 507 (R. Lord 4th ed. 2002). 

IUSM did not act in good faith toward Dr. Packer. There were deliberate 

efforts “to intentionally hinder Dr. Packer’s ability to conduct research.” Doc. 

125-48 at ¶¶ 1, 2. These efforts included inadequate lab facilities and moving 

her to a closet. Doc. 125-44 at 1; Doc. 125-7 at ¶ 18; Doc. 125-44; Doc. 125-24; 

Doc. 125-46 at 3; Doc. 125-49 at 5. Such interference with Dr. Packer’s work 

was bad faith. 

C. The district court committed reversible error. 

The district court narrowly read Dr. Packer’s claim as arising out of the 

University Academic Handbook. Appendix at A15. However, Dr. Packer’s 

contractual rights stem from multiple sources. IUSM policy provides that 

“tenure safeguards academic freedom and economic security.” Doc. 125-16. In 

that regard, Dr. Packer received letters from Department Chair Rhoades, 

Dean Plater, and President Brand. See Doc. 113-3 at 7; 113-3 at 2. Further, 

the record reflected the policies and approval by the University pertaining to 

tenure track faculty. Doc. 125-38.  

 The district court found no evidence these materials met the legal 

definition of a contract, and noted Dr. Packer did not provide copies of the 
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contract letters. Appendix at A16. However, IUSM never disputed that Dr. 

Packer was hired into the tenure track nor that she was awarded tenure. It 

also never disputed that IUSM’s policies governing tenure applied to Dr. 

Packer. Further, these letters had IUSM bates stamps and were used by 

IUSM during Dr. Packer’s deposition. See Doc. 113-3 at 7; 113-3 at 2. Finally, 

Dr. Packer submitted her Final Trial Exhibit List in October of 2014, which 

referenced the tenure contract letter. Doc. 132 at 16 (Exhibit 5). Therefore, 

IUSM and the court were on notice that a contract existed. At the least, a 

question of fact exists as to whether the parties had an enforceable contract.  

 D. Summation 

The district court was wrong to find no enforceable contract existed. 

Under Indiana law, tenure is contractual and the covenant of good faith and 

fair dealing applies. IUSM trampled over Dr. Packer’s contractual rights, as it 

did her Title VII rights. 

CONCLUSION 

 Reviewed de novo and setting the evidence in a light most favorable to 

Dr. Packer, reversal is proper. 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

s/ Christopher Keleher   
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Packer Grant Submissions 2000‐2013 (Note: Trainee Grants Sponsored by Packer Not Included)  

1998‐
2000 

AHA: Indiana Affiliate 
“Signal Transduction of H2O2‐Induced 
Arterial Muscle Contraction”   

PI  External  $53,690 
 

Awarded 

1999‐
2000 

New  Local Outreach Unit  Development 
Grant   
APS: Frontiers in Physiology ($1700) plus 
In‐Kind Support from Indiana University 
School of Medicine ($1950)   

PI  External/ 
Internal 
Matching 

$3,650  Awarded 

2000  NIH R01 
“Placentally‐derived factors alter 
smooth muscle function” 
PI: J Clark, University of Cincinnati 

Co‐I 
(PI on 
Sub‐
Contract)

External  $1,076,920  Unfunded 

2000  American Cancer Society Institutional 
Research Grants 
“Uterine Leiomyoma and Breast Tissue 
Abnormalities: Is There A Connection?” 

PI  External  $20,500  Unfunded 

2000  Lilly Centre for Women’s Health 
“Uterine Leiomyoma and Breast Tissue 
Abnormalities: Is There A Connection?”   

PI  External  $29,619  Unfunded 

2000  DRTC Pilot and Feasibility Grants 
Program 
“Vasoactive oxidants in diabetes and 
spontaneous hypertension”   

PI  Internal  $48,000  Unfunded 

2000  IUSM Educational Research and 
Development Grants Program 
“Fostering communicative skills in a first 
year PBL course” 

PI  Internal  $6,990  Unfunded 

2000‐
2001 

APS: Frontiers in Physiology LOT 
Workshop Neural Networks ($3,000) 
plus In‐Kind Support from the 
Department of Physiology ($1,000) 

PI  External/ 
Internal 
Matching 

$4,000  Awarded 

2000‐
2001 

Radiology Research Pilot Project 
“Histological and Physiological Analysis 
of Hind limb Artery Following the 
Induction of Diabetes Mellitus” 
Ari Salis, MD, PI 

Co‐I  Internal  $4,000 
 

Awarded 

2000‐
2001 

RUGS Intercampus Research TravelGrant 
“Hypoxic Vasoconstriction: The 
Universal Cellular Mechanism Conserved 
from Class Agnatha to Mammalia” 

PI  Internal  $450 
 

Awarded 

2000‐
2001 

RUGS Intercampus Research Fund 
 “Hypoxic Vasoconstriction: The 
Universal Cellular Mechanism” 

PI  Internal  $9,128  Awarded 

2001  IUSM Center of Excellence in Women’s 
Health 
 “Uterine Leiomyoma and Breast Tissue 
Abnormalities: Is There A Connection?”   

PI  Internal  $10,900  Unfunded 

2001  American Heart Association (AHA) 
“Vasoactive oxidants in diabetes and 
spontaneous hypertension: Cellular 
mechanisms, gender & diet effects” 

PI  External  $214,500  Unfunded 

2001‐ M Irené Ferrer Award for Original  PI  External  $50,000  Awarded 
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2002  Research in Gender‐Specific Medicine 
“Estrogen Protection in Genetic 
Hypertension”                                 

2002  ICA (Interstitial Cystitis Association) 
“The In Vivo Effects of DMSO on Cellular 
and Functional Properties of the 
Mammalian Bladder”    

PI  External  $20,150  Unfunded 

2002  ICVBM Pilot Project Awards Program 
“Vasoactive oxidants in diabetes and 
spontaneous hypertension: Cellular 
mechanisms, gender and diet effects” 

PI  Internal  $30,000  Unfunded 

2002‐
2003 

M Irené Ferrer Award for Original 
Research in Gender‐Specific Medicine 
“Gender Dichotomy in Vascular 
Reactivity in Hypertension” 

PI  External  $50,000  Awarded 

2003  NIH R01 
“Obesity, LOX1 and Lipotoxicity” 
PI: JH Dominguez 

Co‐I  External  $1,495,052  Unfunded 

2003  American Diabetes Association (ADA) 
“Vasoactive Oxidants in Diabetes 
Associated Hypertension” 

PI  External  $299,706 
 

Unfunded 

2003‐
2007 

Site Coordinator (11% effort) 
Subcontract NIH SEPA (Science 
Education Partnership Award) RFA 
“Frontiers in Physiology: Local Site 
Model” 
PI: ML Matyas, PhD 
APS Education Officer   

Co‐I 
(PI on 
Sub‐ 
Contract)

External  $1,477,975 
(Direct Costs 
Entire Grant) 

Awarded 

2004  NIH Director’s Pioneer Award  PI  External  $2,500,000  Unfunded 

2004  Pfizer Detrol LA Research Grants Prog 
“NANC Neurotransmitters in Animal and 
Human Bladder Contraction in Health 
and Disease”   

PI  External  $59,050  Unfunded 

2004‐
2007 

VA Merit Grant 
“Lipotoxicity of the Microvasculature in 
Rats with the Metabolic Syndrome” 
PI: JH Dominguez, MD     

Co‐I  External  $428,000  Awarded 

2005  ADA  
“Vasoactive Oxidants in Diabetes 
Associated Hypertension” 

PI  External  $299,994  Unfunded 

2005  IU New Frontiers Arts & Humanities 
Program 
“Frontiers in Physiology: Further 
explorations in modeling inquiry and 
equity in science education” 

PI  Internal  $1,956  Unfunded 

2005‐
2006 

NIH T35 
 “Short Term Training of Minority 
Students Program” 
PD: MS Sturek, PhD 

Co‐I  External  $100,198  Awarded 

2006  O’Brien Center Pilot Study Program 
“NANC Neurotransmitters in Animal/ 
Human Bladder Contraction in Health & 
Disease” 

PI  Internal  $39,938  Unfunded 
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2006  NIH R25 Science Education Partnership 
Award (SEPA) 
“Indiana science education explorations 
& research apprentice program”   

PI  External  $1,349,935  Unfunded 

2007  IUSM Educational Research and 
Development Grants Program 
“Assessing the impact of integrating 
health care communication into a first 
year medical school PBL course”   

PI  Internal  $9,850  Unfunded 

2007  IUPUI Signature Center Grants Program 
“Indiana consortium for life sciences 
education and explorations” 

PI  Internal  $300,000  Unfunded 

2008  Foundation for Women’s Wellness (fww) 
Joyce Brenner Women’s Health 
Research Award 
“Uterine Leiomyomas and Breast Tissue 
Abnormalities: Is There A Connection?” 

PI  External  $17,300  Unfunded 

2008  Sandler Program for Asthma Research 
(SPAR) 
“Airway Smooth Muscle Contractility in 
Equine Recurring Airway Obstruction 
(RAO), a Model of Human Asthma” 

PI  External  $750,000  Unfunded 

2008  The Arnold P Gold Foundation 
 “Assessing the Impact of Integrating 
Health Care Communication into a First 
Year Medical School PBL Course: 
Concepts of Health and Disease (CHD)” 

PI  External  $20,000  Unfunded 

2009  NSF MSP Targeted Partnership 
“Enrichment Programs”            
Co‐Investigator 
“Bioscience Pathways Network (BPN)”   

PI  External  $3,911,589 
Subcontract 
$12,243,303 
Total Program 

Unfunded 

2010  NSF MSP Targeted Partnership 
“Bioscience Pathways Network (BPN) 
with Vertical Articulating Science Teams 
(VAST)” 

PI  External  $10,000,000  Unfunded 

2010  CTSI Pre‐Clinical Translational Pilot Grant 
“Airway Smooth Muscle Contractility in 
Equine Recurring Airway Obstruction 
(RAO), a Model  of Human Asthma” 

PI  External/ 
Internal 

$20,000  Unfunded 

2011‐
2012 

IUPUI LGBT Faculty & Staff Council Grant
“Integrating LGBT Issues into Course # 
X604 "Clinical Problem Solving (CPS), a 
First Year Medical School PBL Course” 

PI  Internal  $500  Awarded 

2011  Lilly Research Awards Program 
“Inhibition of Adenosine Deaminase to 
Treat Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension” 

PI  External  $300,000  Unfunded 

2011‐
2013 

APS Teaching Career Enhancement 
Award     

PI  External  $3,962  Awarded 

2012‐
2013 

IUPUI LGBT Faculty & Staff Council Grant
“Integrating LGBT Issues into Course # 
X604 "Clinical Problem Solving (CPS), a 
First Year Medical School PBL Course 
Phase 2”   

PI  Internal  $500  Awarded 
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